



Noise Characterisation of Graphene FETs Investigation of noise in amplifier and mixer applications

Thesis for the degree of Master of Science in Wireless and Photonics Engineering

MICHAEL ANDERSSON

Terahertz and Millimetre Wave Laboratory Department of Microtechnology and Nanoscience CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Göteborg, Sweden, 2012 Thesis for the degree of Master of Science in Wireless and Photonics Engineering

Noise Characterisation of Graphene FETs

Investigation of noise in amplifier and mixer applications

MICHAEL ANDERSSON

Terahertz and Millimetre Wave Laboratory Department of Microtechnology and Nanoscience - MC2 CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Göteborg, Sweden 2012 Noise Characterisation of Graphene FETs

Investigation of noise in amplifier and mixer applications MICHAEL ANDERSSON

© MICHAEL ANDERSSON, 2012

Terahertz and Millimetre Wave Laboratory Department of Microtechnology and Nanoscience - MC2 Chalmers University of Technology SE-412 96 Göteborg Sweden Telephone + 46 (0)31-772 1000

Cover:

AutoCAD pattern for a G-FET on an exfoliated graphene flake, with the aim of amplifying a microwave signal while adding a minimum level of noise. The dashed line is a help for the eye to distinguish the single-layer graphene.

This report is written in ${\rm I\!AT}_{\rm E}\!{\rm X}$

Printed by Chalmers Reproservice Göteborg, Sweden, June 2012 **Noise Characterisation of Graphene FETs**

Investigation of noise in amplifier and mixer applications MICHAEL ANDERSSON *Terahertz and Millimetre Wave Laboratory* Department of Microtechnology and Nanoscience - MC2 Chalmers University of Technology

Abstract

This thesis deals with the first noise performance study of graphene field effect transistors (G-FETs) at microwave frequencies. It considers G-FETs in two different applications, as a subharmonic resistive mixer and in an amplifier. The work encompasses cleanroom fabrication, as well as characterisation by measurement and modelling. As part of the work a G-FET amplifier operating at 1 GHz with 10 dB small-signal power gain is designed, an 8 dB improvement comparing to earlier reports. The amplifier noise figure is measured to be 6.4 \pm 0.4 dB at 1 GHz. Modelling by the Pospieszalski temperature noise model predicts the minimum extrinsic and intrinsic noise figure of the G-FET itself to be $F_{min,ex} = 3.3$ dB and $F_{min,in} = 1.0$ dB, respectively. Furthermore, the subharmonic mixer exhibits a down-conversion loss of 20-22 dB to $f_{IF} = 100$ MHz in the RF frequency interval $f_{RF} = 2-5$ GHz. The mixer noise figure closely mimics the conversion loss, which suggests the noise of the mixer to be thermal in origin. Conventional FET modelling methods have proven helpful in the analysis also for G-FETs.

Keywords: Graphene FET, microwave amplifiers, noise measurements, noise figure, subharmonic resistive mixer

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I would like to sincerely thank my supervisor Mr. Omid Habibpour and my examiner Prof. Jan Stake. First, Mr. Habibpour for sharing his expertise in cleanroom processing and measurement practices. Also, I am grateful for your patience and eagerness in answering any question at nearly any time, great spirit and encouragement during my work with this thesis. Second, Prof. Stake for the opportunity to join the Terahertz and Millimetre Wave Laboratory and for convincing me to accept the offer. Also, for support, hints and sharing experience in the writing of papers.

Furthermore, I would like to acknowledge Dr. Josip Vukusic and Prof. Erik Kollberg for discussions and proof reading of manuscripts, Niklas Wadefalk and Olle Axelsson for instructions on noise figure measurements and the rest of my colleagues in the Terahertz and Millimetre Wave Laboratory for constituting such an inspiring and curios research group. The way you incorporate and lay responsibility on new students into the state-of-the-art research is admirable.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the funding organisation of this research, *Stiftelsen för Strategisk Forskning (SSF)*.

Contents

A	bstra	nct	i									
A	ckno	wledgements	iii									
C	onter	nts	\mathbf{v}									
Abbreviations and acronyms												
1	Intr	roduction	1									
	1.1	Microwave transistors	1									
	1.2	Graphene for terahertz transistors?	2									
	1.3	Scope	3									
2	The	eory	5									
	2.1	Noise	5									
		2.1.1 Resistor noise and noise temperature	5									
		2.1.2 Noise figure	6									
	2.2	Field Effect Transistors	7									
		2.2.1 Relevant semiconductor properties	$\overline{7}$									
		2.2.2 Ideal DC characteristics	8									
		2.2.3 Small-signal amplifier	10									
		2.2.4 Complete small-signal model	10									
		2.2.5 Figures-of-merit for a microwave FET	12									
		2.2.6 Noise processes and modelling	14									
		2.2.7 Pospieszalski's noise model	15									
		2.2.8 Resistive FET mixers	16									
	2.3	Graphene	17									
		2.3.1 Electronic properties	18									
	2.4	Graphene Field Effect Transistors	19									
		2.4.1 DC characteristics	19									
		2.4.2 Performance bottlenecks	20									
		2.4.3 State-of-the-art RF devices	22									
3	Me	thod	25									
	3.1	Fabrication	25									
	3.2	Amplifier design	26									
	3.3	Noise measurements - the Y-factor method	29									
		3.3.1 Noise measurement setups	31									
	3.4	Modelling of G-FETs	31									

		$3.4.1 \\ 3.4.2$	Pa N	ara oise	met e fig	er e jure	ext m	rac ode	tio ellii	n. ng j	 pro	 DCE	edu	 ire			 		 		· ·			$\frac{31}{32}$
4	Res 4.1 4.2	ults G-FET Noise (Ts of	ma G-I	ll-sig FET	gna ' su	l a bh	mp arn	lifi	er lic 1	 res	 ist	ive	 em	ix	er			 			•	•	33 33 34
5	Disc 5.1 5.2 5.3	Cussion Discus Future Conclu	n a ssio e ou usio	nd n . utlo	co 1 ook 	ncl:	usi	on 		 	 			 			 		 · ·	· ·	· ·	•		39 39 40 41
Re	efere	nces																						43
A	open	ded Pa	ape	\mathbf{ers}																				51

Abbreviations and acronyms

ALD	Atomic Layer Deposition
CPW	Coplanar Waveguide
CVD	Chemical Vapour Deposition
CL	Conversion Loss
DOS	Density Of States
EBL	Electron Beam Lithography
ENR	Excess Noise Ratio
F_{min}	Minimum noise figure
$F_{min,ex}$	Minimum <i>extrinsic</i> noise figure
$F_{min,in}$	Minimum <i>intrinsic</i> noise figure
FET	Field Effect Transistor
f_T	Cutoff frequency
f_{MAX}	Maximum frequency of oscillation
G_A	Available power gain
G_T	Transducer power gain
G-FET	Graphene Field Effect Transistor
hBN	Hexagonal Boron Nitride
HEMT	High Electron Mobility Transistor
$_{ m HF}$	Hydrofluoric acid
IEEE	Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers
IF	Intermediate Frequency
LNA	Low Noise Amplifier
LO	Local Oscillator
MESFET	Metal Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor
MOSFET	Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor
NFA	Noise Figure Analyser
PECVD	Plasma Enhanced Chemical Vapour Deposition
\mathbf{RF}	Radio Frequency
RL	Return Loss
RT	Room Temperature $(T = 290 \text{ K})$
THz	Terahertz (10^{12} Hz)
U	Mason's unilateral gain

Chapter 1 Introduction

Most people in modern society certainly utilise microwaves, usually defined as frequencies in the range from 300 MHz to 300 GHz, as a part of their everyday life. Applications range from communication in cellular phones and wireless LANs, navigation and positioning with GPS and entertainment by means of satellite based TV broadcasting to more indirect usage via e.g. weather forecasting [1]. Emerging applications include medical usage in e.g. cancer tumour detection and treatment [2] and increased usage for safety features in cars [3]. While the majority of these commercial functionalities operate below 10 GHz, also the market for systems higher into the terahertz (THz) range, loosely defined as the range 0.1 - 10 THz, is expanding. The growth at these frequencies, before mainly limited to research in radioastronomy and spectroscopy, is largely from imaging security applications [4].

Common to all these systems is the need to receive and transmit information carried by high frequency signals. Fundamental components in any receiver include low noise amplifiers (LNAs) and frequency down-converting mixers, while a transmitter requires up-converting mixers and power amplifiers (PAs). Virtually all microwave amplifiers are designed using solid-state devices, either bipolar junction transistors (BJTs) or field effect transistors (FETs) whereas mixers are often implemented using FETs.

1.1 Microwave transistors

The advent of microwave transistors began in 1967 with a GaAs metalsemiconductor FET (MESFET), having a a cut-off frequency $f_T = 3$ GHz [5]. While the usage of GaAs MESFETs is limited to f < 50 GHz, the introduction of the GaAs high electron mobility transistor (HEMT) in 1980 [6] enabled the race towards terahertz frequencies. With the state-of-the-art technology today, InP HEMTs, a maximum frequency of oscillation $f_{max} > 1$ THz [7] and 10 dB small-signal gain MMIC amplifiers at 650 GHz have been demonstrated [8]. The output power is limited to 1.7 mW for an eight stage TMIC (terahertz monolithic integrated circuit) amplifier and 3 mW when power combining two such circuits, which can be compared to Figure 1.1. Also, the InP heterojunction bipolar transistor (HBT) reach $f_{max} \approx 1$ THz [7] allowing for 8 dB small-signal MMIC amplifier circuits at 300 GHz [9]. Although other factors influence when gate length down-scaling is performed, carrier mobility and saturation velocity are closely related to the high-speed and noise performance of FETs, where Si metal oxide semiconductor FETs (MOS-FETs) and GaAs MESFETs are surpassed by the high mobility 2D electron gas in GaAs HEMTs, which in turn is outperformed by the InP HEMTs.

1.2 Graphene for terahertz transistors?

With the maturity of InP technology the microwave community is constantly exploring new materials with increasingly higher carrier mobility to further push the limits of FETs, such as InSb HEMTs reaching $f_{max} > 200$ GHz [10]. More exotic, new device concepts include InAs nanowire FETs which reach $f_{max} =$ 14 GHz [11] and carbon nanotube (CNT) FETs. Although a CNT FET with intrinsic $f_T = 80$ GHz has been reported it is largely hampered by parasitics, but has proven to provide 11 dB small-signal gain at 1.3 GHz [12].

Recently, with the first production and demonstration of the field-effect in graphene in 2004 [13], a new promising candidate was introduced. Graphene, a single sheet of carbon atoms, is a truly 2D material with a measured superior room temperature carrier mobility of 100,000 cm^2/Vs for both electrons and holes. Together with its high carrier saturation velocity, $v_{sat} = 4 \cdot 10^7$ cm/s, this property predicts its suitability for high frequency and low noise FETs. Further, the thin channel is believed to suppress short channel effects and allow even higher speeds in graphene based FETs [14]. The ultimate aim certainly is to push microwave electronics to close the THz-gap in Figure 1.1.

In a short time the development of graphene FETs (G-FETs) has proven the potential, with *intrinsic* cut-off frequencies on the order of $f_T = 300$ GHz [15,16] and a record *intrinsic* $f_{max} = 44$ GHz [16]. Several frequency translating devices, mixers [17,18] and multipliers [19], and one occurrence of small-signal gain with 50 Ω loading [20] have all been demonstrated. Nevertheless, several issues remain to be solved, including the high contact resistance which results in a large discrepancy between the extrinsic and intrinsic results [14], and the choice of a stable gate oxide allowing for high mobilities in the G-FET channel [21]. A recent review of graphene in RF applications is given in [22].



Figure 1.1: Illustration of the THz gap, where both the electronic and photonics fail to provide compact, room temperature sources with sufficient output power [4].

1.3 Scope

This master thesis deals with a further investigation of the future potential of G-FETs by measuring, for the first time, the microwave noise figure in two different applications; namely a novel G-FET amplifier [Paper A] and a subharmonic G-FET mixer [Paper B]. The work covers the complete manufacturing process, including graphene material production and patterning of G-FETs using electron beam (e-beam) lithography, as well as characterising the devices experimentally through DC and RF measurements. A key part is the design of the amplifier operating at 1 GHz which allows for accurate noise figure measurements. Finally, to further estimate the future achievable noise performance, noise modelling is utilised to predict the minimum noise figure in eliminating the noisy parasitic resistances.

This work is a continuation of the recent Licentiate Thesis [23] from the Terahertz and Millimetre Wave Laboratory, in which the original process was established. As such, the work investigates and takes the appropriate steps to adapt and develop the G-FETs to the requirements of noise figure measurements, i.e. to provide small-signal gain in amplifier applications, which is discussed in [Paper C].

The report, in turn, gives the background theory, method and results of this work. The next chapter starts with a noise treatment in microwave systems, then deals with the basic physics, DC, small-signal and noise behaviour of field effect transistors and concludes with a review of the graphene and G-FET fields to date. Finally, a section containing discussion and conclusion ends the report.

Chapter 2 Theory

This chapter first introduces the concept of noise in a microwave system. It then continues with a description of the properties of the field effect transistor. This is followed by a description of the intrinsic potential of graphene. It concludes

with the performance of graphene field-effect transistors, G-FETs.

2.1 Noise

A treatment of noise in microwave systems relies on the concept of equivalent noise temperature. It is in turn based on the theory of thermal noise generated by random movement of carriers in any lossy component, as discovered experimentally by Johnson [24] and explained theoretically in more detail by Nyquist [25]. Consequently, it is illustrative to start a noise analysis with the noise properties of a resistor and then move on to microwave components.

2.1.1 Resistor noise and noise temperature

A resistor at physical temperature T can be modeled with a noiseless resistor in series with a voltage source that produces an RMS noise voltage according to

$$v_n = \sqrt{4kTR\Delta f} \qquad [V]. \tag{2.1}$$

This yields the maximum available noise power a resistor delivers to a matched load to be the well-known N = kTB, with $P_n = kT$ being the spectral density of available noise power from a resistor. More generally the spectral density of available thermal noise power from a resistor is given by $P_n = kT_n$ [W/Hz], where T_n [K] is the noise temperature. The distinction is that T_n may be different from the physical temperature, due to additional noise from vacuum fluctuations. The complete expression for resistor noise temperature is then given by the Callen-Welton expression [26] of (2.2).

$$T_n^{C-W} = T \left[\frac{\frac{hf}{kT}}{exp(\frac{hf}{kT} - 1)} \right] + \frac{hf}{2k} \qquad [K]$$
(2.2)

However, when $hf \ll kT$ is a valid assumption, the Rayleigh-Jeans approximation that the noise temperature is equal to the physical temperature can be used with negligible error according to



Figure 2.1: Illustration of equivalent input noise temperature with the output noise power N equal in both cases, since $T_n = T_L/G$, and given as; (a) $N = k\Delta f(GT_s + T_L)$ (b) $N = k\Delta fG(T_s + T_n)$.

$$T_n = T \qquad [K], \tag{2.3}$$

as implied above. This yields a white noise process where the power in a certain bandwidth, B, is simply given by N = kTB. The range of frequencies for which the assumption is valid is dependent upon physical temperature. At a cryogenic temperature it corresponds to f < 100 GHz, while at room-temperature the acceptable region extends to f = 1 THz.

The noise of e.g. an amplifier, regardless of type including thermal noise, shot noise or 1/f noise, is typically modelled in a system perspective to be white thermal noise of a resistor at its input and the component itself is considered noiseless. Thus, the amplifier is described by its equivalent input noise temperature, T_n , which relates to its output noise temperature, T_L , as $T_n = T_L/G$. The situation is illustrated in Figure 2.1 [27].

2.1.2 Noise figure

It is convenient to introduce also the concept of noise figure, defined by Friis in [28] as the degradation in signal-to-noise ratio from the input to the output of a component (with an input termination at a physical temperature of 290K) as

$$F = \frac{S_{in}/N_{in}}{S_{out}/N_{out}} > 1 \qquad [dB].$$
(2.4)

Further, Friis relates the noise figure to the equivalent noise temperature of an amplifier, T_A , as

$$F = 1 + T_A/T_N(290)$$
 [dB]. (2.5)

The current IEEE definition of noise figure uses instead an input termination with a noise temperature of 290K [26], which yields

$$F = [T_N(290) + T_A]/290 \quad [dB].$$
(2.6)

Although the difference above 1 THz is distinct, at microwave frequencies, where $hf \ll kT$, both definitions reduce to the classical relation of (2.7), since $T_N(290) = 290$ according to the Rayleigh-Jeans approximation.



Figure 2.2: (a) Cross sectional view of a MOSFET. (b) Circuit symbol of a FET.

$$F = 1 + T_A/290$$
 [dB] (2.7)

2.2 Field Effect Transistors

By definition, a transistor is a component with three terminals, where one contact is used to control the electrical conductance between the other two. In a field-effect transistor (FET), capacitive control is employed to alter the conductivity via a transverse field, a concept attributed to Shockley at Bell Labs in 1952 [29]. Further, the current flows due to an electric field between the drain and source terminals. Thus the FET is operated by the two voltages V_{gs} and V_{ds} , respectively, with the source generally grounded as in Figure 2.2.

Mainly two different approaches to realise the gate capacitor are used [30]. Firstly, in a metal semiconductor FET (MESFET) the capacitor associated with the metal-semiconductor (Schottky) interface is used. Secondly, an insulating gate is realised, represented either by a large bandgap semiconductor layer as in a high electron mobility transistor (HEMT), or by a dielectric/oxide layer as in a metal oxide semiconductor FET (MOSFET).

Normally, FETs are distinguished to be either n-type (conducting electrons) or p-type (conducting holes) devices, and if they are enhancement mode (normally off) or depletion mode (normally on) devices.

2.2.1 Relevant semiconductor properties

A first indicator of the final device performance is the response of carriers in the channel due to the application of an electrical field. The following treatment assumes a semiconductor where carrier behavior is obtained by solving the Schrödinger equation.

For sufficiently low fields the carriers are set into motion with a drift velocity according to

$$v_{drift} = \mu E \qquad [cm^2/Vs], \tag{2.8}$$

where μ is the (field independent) carrier mobility [30]. The free motion of carriers is interrupted by different scattering mechanisms, where the resulting mobility is calculated by the Matthiessen rule as $\mu = (1/\mu_l + 1/\mu_i)^{-1}$. Here μ_l

 5^{*}

Semiconductor GaAs GaN InAs InSb Si m_{e}^{*}/m_{0} 0.980.0630.190.0230.015 $\overline{[cm^2/Vs]}$ 33,000 80,000 1,4008,000 1,600 μ_e

Table 2.1: Effective mass, low-field mobility and saturation velocity (*peak) of typicalbulk FET semiconductors. Values given at room temperature and low doping level.

arises from acoustic phonons (lattice vibrations) and μ_i from charged impurities such as ionized donors or acceptors.

 1.5^{*}

1

1.1

 3.5^{*}

The mobility is directly related to the carrier effective mass, m^* , which is derived from the energy band structure, E(k), of a semiconductor as in (2.9). Both mobilities, μ_l and μ_i , depend on the effective mass as $\mu_{l,i} \propto 1/m^*$.

$$m^* = \frac{1}{\hbar^2} \left(\frac{d^2 E}{dk^2}\right)^{-1} [kg]$$
 (2.9)

Increasing the field strength, the simple relation of (2.8) no longer holds. Instead the carrier drift velocity saturates to a certain temperature dependent value. This can be described by the empirical relation

$$v_{drift} = \frac{\mu E}{\left(1 + \left(\frac{\mu E}{v_{sat}}\right)^{x}\right)^{1/x}} \qquad [cm/s]$$
(2.10)

where μ is the low-field mobility and x is a temperature dependent parameter extracted from experimental data [30]. Furthermore, many III-V semiconductors exhibit a peak drift velocity for a certain electric field strength, beyond which the drift velocity decreases with increasing field. Table 2.1 summarises carrier dynamics for some bulk semiconductor materials suitable for FETs.

2.2.2 Ideal DC characteristics

 $[10^7 \ cm/s]$

 v_{sat}

The DC behavior of an n-type enhancement mode FET is described by the transfer characteristic, $I_{ds}(V_{gs})$ for a fixed V_{ds} and the output characteristic, $I_{ds}(V_{ds})$ for a fixed V_{gs} . Basically, the transistor can be operated in a linear region or in current saturation, for $V_{ds} < V_{dsat}$ and $V_{ds} > V_{dsat}$, where V_{dsat} is the drain-source voltage where current saturation sets in, Figure 2.3a. The following treatment exemplifies using a silicon MOSFET with a channel long enough for velocity saturation to be negligible [30]. Similar relations apply also to HEMTs and MESFETs with slight modification.

The transfer characteristic is described by (2.11) for a fixed V_{ds} , where C_{ox} $[F/cm^2]$ is the gate capacitance per area and V_T [V] the threshold voltage, which is the minimum gate voltage for a conductive channel.

$$I_{ds} = k \left((V_{gs} - V_T) \frac{V_{ds}}{2} \right) V_{ds} \quad for \quad V_{ds} < V_{dsat} \quad [A]$$
(2.11a)

$$I_{dsat} = \frac{k}{2} (V_{gs} - V_T)^2 \quad for \quad V_{ds} > V_{dsat} \quad [A]$$
(2.11b)

$$k = \frac{W}{L} \mu C_{ox} \qquad [A/V^2] \tag{2.11c}$$



Figure 2.3: (a) Output characteristics illustrating ideal current saturation in drain voltage. The dashed lines indicate the linear and quadratic regimes in gate voltage. (b) Low frequency small-signal gain with 50 Ω terminations from (2.15).

The slope of the $I_{ds}(V_{gs})$ curve is the transconductance, g_m [S], defined and calculated in (2.12). It is proportional to V_{ds} in the linear region, V_{gs} in the saturation region and increases with transistor parameter k.

!

$$g_m = \frac{\partial I_{ds}}{\partial V_{gs}} \Big|_{V_{ds} = constant} \qquad [S]$$
(2.12a)

$$g_m = kV_{ds} = \frac{W}{L} \mu C_{ox} V_{ds} \quad for \quad V_{ds} < V_{dsat} \quad [S]$$
(2.12b)

$$g_m = kV_{gs} = \frac{W}{L} \mu C_{ox} V_{gs} \quad for \quad V_{ds} > V_{dsat} \quad [S]$$
(2.12c)

The output characteristic is divided into the linear, non-linear and current saturation regimes (Figure 2.3a), dependent upon the drain to source voltage, V_{ds} . For $V_{ds} \ll V_{dsat}$ the transistor acts basically as a resistor variable with the gate voltage, V_{gs} . Further, for intermediate V_{ds} a non-linearity appears, as predicted by (2.11a). Lastly, at $V_{ds} > V_{dsat}$ current saturation sets in, where the drain current is independent of V_{ds} and quadratic in V_{gs} (2.11b). The slope of the $I_{ds}(V_{ds})$ curve is the output conductance, g_d [S], defined in (2.13). An increase in V_{ds} towards complete saturation region is given by equation (2.11b) since $V_{dsat} = V_{gs} - V_T$.

$$g_d = \frac{\partial I_{ds}}{\partial V_{ds}} \Big|_{V_{gs} = constant} \qquad [S] \tag{2.13}$$

If instead, the device has a short channel to yield a sufficiently high field, velocity saturation will dominate the carrier transport [30]. As a consequence, the saturation current and transconductance are both proportional to v_{sat} , not the mobility μ , as were the case for low fields in long channels, e.g.

$$g_m = WC_{ox}v_{sat} \qquad [S]. \tag{2.14}$$

The formation of ohmic contacts is a crucial step for a MOSFET, which is a metal-semiconductor junction with very low resistance. It must contribute only a small fraction of the device resistance, thus yielding a voltage drop that is negligible compared to the voltage drop across the active region [30]. This is generally done via heavy doping of the semiconductor and choosing a contact metal with a low work function compared to the bandgap of the semiconductor.

2.2.3 Small-signal amplifier

The main application of FETs is as small-signal amplifiers, where the transistor operates at a certain DC bias point (V_{GS}, V_{DS}, I_{DS}) . A small-signal $v_{gs} = V \sin \omega t$ is superimposed on the gate-source voltage yields a current variation $i_{ds} = g_m v_{gs} = g_m V \sin(\omega t)$. A high g_m is thus important to realise an amplifier, which decides the bias point. This gives a qualitative understanding of the amplifier operation, while the formal design is made using S-parameters measured at a certain bias point [31]. In order to simplify, the pad resistances R_s and R_d can be included into the intrinsic transconductance and output conductance and the frequency dependent elements in the FET are ignored. This yields a small-signal equivalent circuit according to Figure 2.4 containing the extrinsic values g_{me} and g_{de} . These are the corresponding quantities as found via the measured FET characteristics. At low frequencies the small-signal gain can then be calculated as

$$S_{21} = -\frac{2Z_0 g_{me}}{(Z_0 g_{de} + 1)} \qquad [dB], \qquad (2.15)$$

where Z_0 is the system characteristic impedance. Based on (2.15) the contour plot in Figure 2.3b clearly illustrates the importance of a high g_{me} and a low g_{de} (i.e. operation in current saturation) to have a high gain.

2.2.4 Complete small-signal model

At higher frequencies, the capacitors and inductors may not be approximated as open and short, but instead the model of Figure 2.5 is used. The model elements of a FET in are divided into intrinsic and extrinsic. The intrinsic part describes the inherent FET behavior, via a voltage controlled current source, and the capacitive nature of the component. On the other hand, the extrinsic portion of the circuit contains the parasitic effects which result from the contact pads. Generally, the intrinsic part is bias dependent, while the extrinsic part is bias independent. The small-signal equivalent circuit is important to understand the



Figure 2.4: Small-signal model of a FET at low frequencies, with extrinsic g_m and g_d .



Figure 2.5: Complete small-signal model for a FET including frequency dependent parasitics. The intrinsic parameters are within dashed lines.

optimisation of FETs for them to operate at very high frequencies (Section 2.2.5) and a crucial building block in the noise modelling of FETs (Section 2.2.6).

The extraction of the model parameters starts with the determination of the parasitic elements from S-parameter measurements of the transistor structure when shorted and open. For HEMTs and MOSFETs the measurements are made at $V_{ds} = 0$ (cold-FET method [32]), altering the gate voltage to make the channel fully conductive or pinched off, respectively. Next, the measured S-parameters of the device at a desired bias point are de-embedded using the previously determined parasitic element values and two-port parameter conversions to find the intrinsic y-parameters of the transistor. Analytical expressions for the intrinsic y-parameters have been derived (reproduced in (2.16)), from which the intrinsic component model values can be calculated, as found in the literature (e.g. [32]).

$$y_{11} = \frac{R_i C_{gs}^2 \omega^2}{D} + j\omega \left(\frac{C_{gs}}{D} + C_{gd}\right)$$
 [S] (2.16a)

$$y_{12} = -j\omega C_{gd} \qquad [S] \qquad (2.16b)$$

$$y_{21} = \frac{g_m e^{-j\omega r}}{1 + j\omega R_i C_{gs}} - j\omega C_{gd} \qquad [S] \qquad (2.16c)$$

$$y_{22} = 1/R_{ds} + j\omega(C_{ds} + C_{gd})$$
 [S] (2.16d)

$$D = 1 + \omega^2 C_{qs}^2 R_i^2 \qquad [-] \qquad (2.16e)$$

To relate the extrinsic, DC extracted quantities of (2.12) and (2.13) to the intrinsic counterparts in Figure 2.5, (2.17) and (2.18) are used [33].

$$g_{mi} = \frac{g_m^0}{(1 - (R_s + R_d)g_d(1 + R_s g_m^0))}$$
 [S] (2.17)

$$g_{di} = \frac{g_d^0}{(1 - R_s g_m (1 + (R_s + R_d) g_d^0))}$$
 [S] (2.18)



Figure 2.6: Reported gate length dependence for state-of-the-art FETs on (a) cutoff frequency, f_T , [34,35] and (b) maximum frequency of oscillation, f_{max} [34,36].

where $g_m^0 = \frac{g_{m,e}}{1-R_s g_{m,e}}$ and $g_d^0 = \frac{g_{d,e}}{1-(R_s+R_d)g_{d,e}}$. In mature HEMT and MOSFET technology the parasitic contact resistances are only a few ohms, resulting in $g_{mi} \simeq g_m$ and $g_{di} \simeq g_d$.

2.2.5 Figures-of-merit for a microwave FET

To benchmark the high frequency performance of transistors, where the parasitics reduce the gain compared to (2.15), mainly two different measures are used, the cut-off frequency, f_T , and the maximum frequency of oscillation, f_{max} . Importantly, neither a certain f_T or f_{max} guarantees the transistor to provide power gain with practical terminations. In addition, often the minimum noise figure is an important figure-of-merit of a microwave FET.

Cutoff frequency

The cut-off frequency occurs when the transistor has unity current gain, $f_T = f(|h_{21}| = 1)$. Generally, S-parameters are measured and the current gain calculated as

$$h_{21} = \frac{-2S_{21}}{(1 - S_{11})(1 + S_{22}) + S_{12}S_{21}} \qquad [dB]$$
(2.19)

An analytical expression for f_T has been derived [30], which is given here with reference to the notation of Figure 2.5

$$f_T = \frac{g_m}{2\pi \left((C_{gs} + C_{gd}) \left(1 + \frac{R_d + R_s}{R_{ds}} \right) + C_{gd}g_m(R_d + R_s) + C_{pg} \right)}$$
[Hz]. (2.20)

It is observed that in a region of current saturation $(R_{ds} \text{ large})$ and for a mature technology with negligible parasitics, (2.20) reduces to the more simple form of an intrinsic FET

$$f_T \simeq \frac{g_m}{2\pi (C_{gs} + C_{gd})} = \frac{g_m}{2\pi C_g}$$
 [Hz]. (2.21)

Thus, $C_g = C_{ox} \cdot W_g \cdot L_g$ [F], must be minimised while maintaining C_{ox} high to maximise g_m . This results in the well-known down-scaling principle to increase the cutoff frequency. Ideally, for a long channel MOSFET $f_T = \frac{\mu V_{gs}}{2\pi L_g^2} \propto 1/L_g^2$, while for a short-channel MOSFET $f_T = \frac{v_{sat}}{2\pi L_g} \propto 1/L_g$, which is illustrated in Figure 2.6a. Clearly the channel material mobility is important, as reflected with the increasing performance from Si, via In_{0.2}Ga_{0.8}As of GaAs HEMTs to In_{0.57}Ga_{0.43}As of InP HEMTs [34]. The ultimate cursor of high speed performance with aggressive gate length down-scaling, though, also includes the saturation velocity, as the electric field across the channel increases.

Nevertheless, Si MOSFETs reach a performance comparable with III-V HEMTs, despite the much lower mobility. This is due to easier avoidance of short-channel effects in FETs, e.g. lack of current saturation which counteract the improvement in C_g . This is mainly attributed to the possibility of realising a very thin barrier layer, gate oxide, between the gate and channel in a MOSFET which is important as L_g is decreased, and the higher density of states in Si as compared to III-V semiconductors [34].

In conclusion, for two technologies with the same device structure and resembling channel materials, the higher mobility and saturation velocity is the most advantageous, as illustrated by InP HEMTs outperforming GaAs HEMTs.

Maximum frequency of oscillations

The maximum frequency of oscillation occur when the unilateral power gain (Mason's gain [37]) equals unity, $f_{max} = f(U = 1)$. This is the highest frequency where the transistor provides power gain, if it is unilaterised, i.e. $S_{12} = 0$. Typically, U is calculated from measured S-parameters as [38]

$$U = \frac{|S_{12} - S_{21}|^2}{\mathbf{1} - \mathbf{SS}^*} \qquad [dB].$$
(2.22)

An analytical expression to predict f_{max} , relative to f_T , is found in [30] to be

$$f_{max} = \frac{f_T}{2\sqrt{\frac{R_i + R_g + R_s}{R_{ds}} + 2\pi R_g C_{gd} f_T}}$$
[Hz]. (2.23)

In addition to the reasoning for the cutoff frequency, it is important to optimise the value of the gate resistance R_g for short gate length devices. This is typically addressed by fabricating a T-shaped mushroom gate for HEMTs or multigate fingers for MOSFETs.

Minimum noise figure

To quantify the noise performance of two-port FET amplifiers, the concept of noise figure is used, as introduced in Section 2.1.2. The noise figure is dependent upon the source admittance, Y_s , according to (2.24) [27].

$$F(Y_s) = F_{min} + \frac{R_n}{G_s} \cdot |Y_s - Y_{opt}|^2$$
 [dB] (2.24)

The equivalent noise resistance, R_n , is a measure of the rate at which the noise figure deteriorates with a deviation from the optimum source impedance, $Y_{opt} =$



Figure 2.7: State-of-the-art F_{min} for four different FET technologies at RT [40].

 $R_{opt} + jX_{opt}$, at which F_{min} is achieved. A set of noise parameters, including F_{min} , is only valid at the specific bias point at which they are measured. The best figure-of-merit is consequently to report the best F_{min} at the optimum DC current, I_{ds} . In addition, the corresponding available power gain, G_A , with source impedance Y_{opt} should be attached, which is also important for a low-noise amplifier (LNA) in a receiver chain. A high gain minimises the noise contribution cascaded components following the amplifier [27].

To understand the basic design principles for low noise figure of a FET, the relation of (2.25) [39] might be used as a first principle approach, with the small-signal equivalent circuit element notation of Figure 2.5, where $T_0 = 290$ K is the standard temperature.

$$T_{min} = (F_{min} - 1) T_0 \propto 2 \frac{f}{f_T} \sqrt{(R_i + R_g + R_s)/R_{ds}} \propto \frac{\sqrt{I_{ds}}}{g_m} \qquad [K] \quad (2.25)$$

A high g_m at a low I_{ds} , as well as low parasitic resistances, in general yields a low noise device. This relation is illustrated in Figure 2.7, which presents the state-of-the-art F_{min} at room temperature, where high f_T InP technology clearly outperforms Si MOSFETs and GaAs HEMTs in noise performance, which compares well to Figure 2.6.

2.2.6 Noise processes and modelling

Noise in FETs originates both from the intrinsic device and the parasitic elements. The extrinsic parts contributes mainly thermal noise from gate and source contact resistances, which is easily included when a model for the intrinsic noise is set up. Additionally, for FETs with large gate leakage current shot-noise and 1/f noise has to be included [40].

In long channel device, the intrinsic noise is thermal in origin. In a shortchannel FET, on the other hand, where the carriers move at a saturated velocity, the noise is high-field diffusion noise [27]. Nevertheless, noise modelling in modern HEMTs and down-scaled Si MOSFETs derives from the original work by



Figure 2.8: Intrinsic, uncorrelated FET thermal noise according to Pospieszalski, with a gate voltage source $\overline{q_{gs}^2} = 4kT_gR_i\Delta f$ and a drain current source $\overline{i_{ds}^2} = 4kT_dR_{ds}\Delta f$.

Van der Ziel [41] on thermal noise in FETs. Generally, the intrinsic noise is divided into drain thermal noise and induced gate noise. The PRC model of 1974 established the gate noise to be coupled from the channel via the gate capacitance and thus perfectly correlated [42]. Later, in 1989 Pospieszalski, interpreted the gate noise to be thermal and uncorrelated with the drain noise [43]. This approach is today widely used, and the model has been verified for both HEMTs and MOSFETs [40].

2.2.7 Pospieszalski's noise model

The Pospieszalski noise model takes as a starting point the intrinsic part of the small-signal circuit of Figure 2.5, with a voltage source representing gate noise and a current source representing the drain noise, according to Figure 2.8. It assigns two frequency independent equivalent noise temperatures, T_g of R_i and T_d of R_{ds} , to model the drain noise and gate noise, respectively. The model predicts all four noise parameters with closed form expressions in the equivalent noise temperatures, the intrinsic small-signal elements and frequency, where low frequency 1/f noise is negligible. The general expression for T_{min} is given by (2.26), where $f_T = \frac{g_m}{2\pi C_{as}}$.

$$T_{min} = 2\frac{f}{f_T} \sqrt{(R_i T_g T_d)/R_{ds} + \left(\frac{f}{f_T}\right)^2 R_i^2 T_d^2/R_{ds}^2} + 2\left(\frac{f}{f_T}\right)^2 R_i T_d/R_{ds} \quad [K]$$
(2.26)

In the frequency range where $\frac{f}{f_T} \ll \sqrt{\frac{T_g R_{ds}}{T_d R_i}}$ it reduces to

$$T_{min} \approx 2 \frac{f}{f_T} \sqrt{T_d T_g R_i / R_{ds}} \qquad [K].$$

The model temperatures scales down accordingly with operation at cryogenic temperatures. Typically, the gate temperature $T_g \approx T_a$, which reduces the model to one unknown parameter. The drain temperature, T_d , also reduces

at low temperatures, but not to the same extent as T_g . This supports the assumption that the gate noise is not directly induced by the drain noise.

Noise temperature extraction and validity

An algebraic method for treating temperature based noise models has been developed [44] and utilised to derive direct extraction methods for the one parameter [45] and two parameter [46] Pospieszalski model. The effect of parasitic resistances at ambient temperature, T_a , is taken into account when calculating the intrinsic contributions T_g and T_d . The two parameter model requires two measurements of noise figure at the same frequency, but with different source impedance, while for the one parameter counterpart a single noise figure measurement is enough.

An assertion of the model validity can be made if accurate measured values of G_{opt} , R_n and T_{min} are available, with the inequality of (2.28) satisfied at all frequencies of interest.

$$1 \le \frac{4G_{opt}R_nT_0}{T_{min}} < 2 \tag{2.28}$$

2.2.8 Resistive FET mixers

In addition to the small-signal application of FETs as amplifiers, it might also be operated in a large signal manner, which includes frequency translation. A FET mixer can utilise either the nonlinear resistance (resistive mixer) or the nonlinear transconductance (active mixer) of the transistor [1]. In either mode, the mixer operates by applying a local oscillator (LO) large signal at frequency f_{LO} to the gate terminal, which is typically biased close to the threshold voltage. As a consequence, the transistor switches between high and low transconductance or channel conductance, which yields waveform of $g_m(t)$ or $G_{ds}(t)$, respectively.

For a resistive mixer operation the RF signal is applied to the drain terminal [47]. This yields a multiplication according to $G_{ds}(t) \cdot V_{RF}sin(\omega_{RF}t)$. Since $G_{ds}(t)$ may be expressed as a Fourier series in f_{LO} , the product will contain $sin(\omega_{LO}t) \cdot sin(\omega_{RF}t)$, which can be rewritten as the sum $sin((\omega_{RF} + \omega_{LO})t) + sin((\omega_{RF} - \omega_{LO})t)$. The desired intermediate frequency, f_{IF} , is either the sum or difference depending on whether an up- or down-conversion is performed. The included frequencies and relative power levels are illustrated in Figure 2.9. A mixer is defined to be either single-sideband (SSB) or double-sideband (DSB) depending on whether it converts RF signals on only one side-band relative to the LO or both. This defines the image frequency f_{IM} which might result in an unwanted response the same as from f_{RF} for a DSB mixer.

Since the resistive mixer is a passive component it always results in a conversion loss (CL) as defined by

$$CL = \frac{P_{RF}}{P_{IF}} > 1$$
 [dB]. (2.29)

For a resistive mixer it is valid that $CL \propto 1/(\Gamma_{max} - \Gamma_{min})$ [48]. The proportionality constant depends on the wave shape of $G_{ds}(t)$, with a square wave of 50 % duty cycle the most favourable. On the other hand, the noise figure is generally lower than that of a diode mixer with the same conversion loss. The



Figure 2.9: Spectra and relative powers in a mixer frequency translation. The frequencies are related as; $f_{IF,DOWN} = f_{RF} - f_{LO}$ and $f_{IF,UP} = f_{RF} + f_{LO}$. Ideally the image frequency, f_{IM} , yields the same output as the RF frequency, f_{RF} .

reason is the absence of shot noise when the gate leakage current is low. This makes the attenuator noise model [27]

$$T_{SSB} = T_a \cdot (CL - 2) \qquad [K], \tag{2.30}$$

where T_a is the ambient temperature, a suitable choice for a resistive mixer.

The most convenient mixer noise figure definition is different from (2.7) and given by

$$F_{SSB} = 2 + \frac{T_{SSB}}{T_0}$$
 [dB], (2.31)

which yields $F_{SSB} = CL$ at room temperature where $T_a = T_0$, as verified experimentally in [47]. It also conserves the property that $F_{DSB} = F_{SSB}/2$ just like $T_{DSB} = T_{SSB}/2$, assuming exactly equal sideband loss.

2.3 Graphene

Graphene consists of a single-layer of carbon atoms organised in a honeycomb lattice, Figure 2.10a. The thickness is $d \simeq 0.3nm$, making it a truly 2D material, and the lattice constant is a = 1.42 Å. It is the basic building block of graphite flakes, which consists of several millions of graphene layers stacked on top of each other. Often, two layers are referred to as bilayer graphene, while without a prefix the underlying assumption is that of a single layer.

The electronic properties of graphene are found by solving the Dirac equation, rather than the Schödinger equation. The result for large area graphene shows a zero bandgap semiconductor, semimetal. It has conical (linear if restricted to a plane) conduction and valence bands crossing at points called Dirac points. As a consequence, the carriers close to the Dirac point have *zero* mass. By limiting the width of graphene in one dimension a nanoribbon is formed, in



Figure 2.10: (a) Honeycomb crystal structure of a graphene sheet. (b) Dispersion relation close to the Dirac-point of a large-area graphene flake and a nanoribbon [14].

which a measurable bandgap can be detected with a size up to 200 meV [14], although the band curvature results in a higher carrier mass. The two cases are reproduced in Figure 2.10b.

2.3.1 Electronic properties

The potential for manufacturing high frequency, microwave and possibly terahertz range, field effect transistors from graphene stem from its high intrinsic mobility and saturation velocity. The utilisation of these properties are hindered by the choice of substrate and top gate dielectric, which yields lower extrinsic values. A unique property of graphene is that the electron and hole mobilities are very similar, whereas other semiconductors typically have $\mu_e >> \mu_h$ [30].

Mobility and saturation velocity

The predicted intrinsic room temperature mobility of graphene for a carrier density of $10^{12}cm^{-2}$ range from 100,000 $cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}$ in [49] to 200,000 $cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}$ in [50], as limited by the acoustic phonons of the graphene lattice. On the other hand, for graphene on SiO_2 , the main scattering mechanism for carriers is from charged impurities introduced by the substrate, so called Coulomb scattering [51], which limits the maximum mobility of graphene on SiO_2 to about $10,000 \ cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}$ [52]. Comparing with reported experiments, by entirely removing the effect of the substrate a mobility of $100,000 \ cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}$ has been measured for suspended graphene [14].

Replacing SiO_2 ($\kappa \simeq 4$) with a high- κ dielectric screens the charged impurities, promising higher extrinsic mobility [52]. This is also the case for low temperatures where a fourfold improvement is possible. At room temperature, on the other hand, an additional scattering mechanism is introduced, surface-optical (SO) phonon scattering, which erases the improvement. Nevertheless, choosing AlN or SiC (intermediate- κ dielectrics) mobilities of about 15,000 $cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}$ can be attained. Another possibility which has been successfully explored to achieve a higher mobility is atomically flat BN, where values of 25,000 $cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}$ have been demonstrated [21].

A comparison with the conventional FET materials in Table 2.1 shows that graphene clearly has an advantage with respect to mobility. Furthermore, it is not only the substrate, but also the top gate dielectric of a graphene FET which affects the mobility, which is treated in Section 2.4.

Concerning the saturation velocity, theoretical studies suggest that for graphene the intrinsic v_{sat} can reach values of $4 \cdot 10^7 cm/s$ [14]. The peak is not as distinct as for III-V semiconductors, whereby the high carrier velocity is maintained for higher fields, making it yet more favourable compared to the materials in Table 2.1. Furthermore, an experimental study for graphene on SiO_2 indicate that the saturation velocity is highly carrier density dependent, varying in the range of $1 - 2 \cdot 10^7 cm/s$, which again suggests the substrate to be limiting the performance of graphene in FETs [53].

Residual carrier density

Since graphene does not have a bandgap, a FET channel is impossible to turn off, due to thermally generated carriers, where $n_{th} = 8 \cdot 10^{10} cm^{-2}$ at room temperature. These carriers provide a non-zero conductivity even at the Dirac point, which is the point of minimum conductivity. Measured conductivity for graphene on SiO_2 , though, has shown that an additional parameter is required in order to explain the behavior at the Dirac point, usually referred to as the residual carrier density, n_0 [54]. These carriers are supplied by the aforementioned charged impurities, which form electron-hole puddles in the graphene layer. The available residual carrier density at the Dirac point lies typically in the range $n_0 = 10^{11} - 10^{12} cm^{-2}$, depending on the cleanliness of the sample.

2.4 Graphene Field Effect Transistors

Graphene field effect transistors (G-FETs) are categorised as MOSFETs, where the gate controls the channel conductivity via the capacitance of an oxide or dielectric. In addition to the persuasive mobility and saturation velocity of graphene as an intrinsic material, the most distinctive property is the ability to have both electron (n-channel) and hole (p-channel) conduction in the same device [13], as illustrated in Figure 2.11a.

2.4.1 DC characteristics

The simple model of (2.32) [55] may be used to fit the electron and hole branches of the channel resistance, in order to have a quantitative understanding how the different parameters influence the device behavior.

$$R_{ds} = 2R_c + \frac{L}{Wq\mu_{e,h}\sqrt{n^2 + n_0^2}} \qquad [\Omega]$$
(2.32a)

$$n = \frac{C_{gate}(V_{gate} - V_{dirac})}{q} \qquad [cm^{-2}]$$
(2.32b)

$$C_{gate} = \left(\frac{1}{C_{ox}} + \frac{1}{C_q}\right)^{-1} \qquad [F/cm^2]$$
 (2.32c)



Figure 2.11: (a) Typical G-FET transfer characteristic and transconductance, with a change from electron to hole conduction at the Dirac point. (b) G-FET output characteristics with onset to current saturation and a second linear region.

The on-off ratio is influenced by mainly two parameters, the residual carrier density for the off-state, n_0 , and the contact resistance, R_c , for the on-state. Furthermore, the slope is determined by the the carrier mobilities, $\mu_{e,h}$, and the gate capacitance per area C_{ox} $[F/cm^2]$. One should be careful in defining $C_{gate} = C_{ox}$ except when $C_{ox} << C_q$, the quantum capacitance of graphene [56].

The characteristic of Figure 2.11 illustrates also two unwanted phenomena in G-FETs. Firstly, the Dirac point is shifted away from $V_{gate} = 0$ V, which is attributed to unintentional doping of the graphene layer during the fabrication process. Secondly, there is an asymmetry of the electron and hole sides of the transfer characteristic around the Dirac point. This is caused by charge transfer from the metal contact to the graphene channel [57], which is minimised by a proper choice of contact metalisation. The extra resistance originates from pnjunction formation at the channel ends closest to the contacts.

2.4.2 Performance bottlenecks

As has already been outlined in Section 2.4.3, the intrinsic potential for graphene in amplifier applications is high, while the extrinsic performance is still limited by the high contact resistances and mobility degradation from substrates and top-gate dielectrics.

Contact resistance

The high sheet resistivity $\rho_s [\Omega/\Box]$ of graphene, particularly close to the Dirac point where the density-of-states (DOS) is low [57], yields a large contact resistance, $R_c = R_A + R_{m-g}$. The access resistance, $R_A = \frac{L_A}{W_A}\rho_s$, originates from the ungated region between contact and channel and R_{m-g} from the metal-graphene interface. Experimental investigation of different metalisations [57] and simulations to understand the metal-graphene interface [58] has been conducted in order to develop a process that provides good ohmic contacts. Theoretical considerations suggest doping the graphene under the contact, but still no reliable doping process has been presented.

Table 2.2: Reported resistivities of several different contact metallisation stacks on single-layer graphene. Values are given as $R_c W [\Omega \mu m]$ (* self-aligned structure).

Metal	Ni [57]	Ti/Au [60]	Cr/Au [57]	Ti/Pd/Au [18]	Ti/Pd/Au* [59]
$R_c W$	1,000	800	10,000	600	540*

It has been shown that the current transfer from metal to graphene occurs only at the edge of the contact [57]. Thus R_{m-g} scales with the width of the contact rather than the area and the correct measure of contact resistivity is $R_c W$ in $[\Omega \cdot \mu m]$, where W is the contact width. Available values of contact resistivity for single-layer graphene are presented in Table 2.2. In order to reach the level of established technologies, the contact resistivity needs to be reduced an order of magnitude [57]. Reducing the access region distance makes R_A less detrimental, where a self-alignment process is the limiting case [59], while another option is to dope also the access part to reduce ρ_s .

Mobility degradation from top-gate dielectric

The first G-FET with a top-gate, where the graphene channel is sandwiched between two dielectric materials, used SiO_2 [61]. The mobility degradation was severe, almost ten times, after the formation of the top-gate. Several alternative dielectrics have been suggested since, whereof a handful from literature are presented in Table 2.3, together with extracted carrier mobility. For completeness, the dielectric constants, κ , of the gate dielectrics or achieved gate oxide capacitance are stated where reported, which relates to the possibilities of having a high g_m .

High κ -dielectrics are typically grown by atomic layer deposition (ALD), after natural oxidation of a thin nucleation layer [55, 62]. Exfoliated graphene on SiO_2 is used in all examples of Table 2.3, except one sample on hexagonal boron nitride (hBN), which is back-gated with the gate recessed under the gate dielectric [63]. Using a proper choice of top-gate dielectric and deposition method the maximum mobility value for graphene on SiO_2 is approached. Regarding, hBN a bilayer BN/graphene/BN device has shown a mobility of 15,000 $cm^2/(Vs)$ [64] and further development is required to reach the promising values in [21] for single-layer device channels.

Table 2.3: Top-gate dielectrics produced by; a) ALD b) Natural oxidation c) PECVD d) Exfoliation. Relative dielectric constants refer to the thin gate dielectric films. All data refer to exfoliated single-layer graphene in FET channels.

Dielectric	$\mu \ [cm^2/(Vs)]$	κ	$C_{ox} \ [\mu F/cm^2]$
SiO_2 [61]	700	-	-
$Al_2O_3^{\ a)}$ [55]	8,600	6.4	0.3
$Y_2O_3^{\ b)}$ [65]	$5,\!400$	10	1.5
$HfO_2^{(a)}$ [62]	< 5,000	15	-
$Si_3N_4 \ ^{c)} \ [66]$	3,800	4.4	-
$hBN \ ^{d} \ [63]$	3,300	-	-

2.4.3 State-of-the-art RF devices

Single-layer graphene material can be prepared using several different methods, including chemical vapor deposition (CVD), thermal decomposition of SiC and mechanical exfoliation from natural graphite. The different methods yields varying quality, specifically regarding mobility and homogeneity of the material.

Thus far, the suitability for electronics is largest for exfoliated graphene where a transistor channel mobility on the order of 8,000 $cm^2/(Vs)$ has been extracted [55]. In addition, an intrinsic cutoff frequency $f_T = 300$ GHz for a gate length $L_g = 144$ nm, is achieved using exfoliated material [15]. The most commonly used substrate for exfoliated graphene is 300 nm SiO_2 on a Si wafer, which facilitates optical confirmation of the number of layers via the reflectance of green light [67], as can be seen in Figure 2.13. The drawback of exfoliated graphene is the scalability, as the largest flakes measure $10 \times 30 \ \mu\text{m}^2$.

Graphene may be grown by CVD techniques on a metal, such as nickel or copper. The advantages include large scale production and subsequent transfer to a wide variety of substrates, not limiting it to SiO_2 . The mobilities for CVD graphene grown on Ni and Cu are in the range of $1,000 \ cm^2/(Vs)$ [68] and $4,000 \ cm^2/(Vs)$ [69], respectively. Recently, a cutoff frequency (intrinsic), $f_T = 300$ GHz for a gate length $L_g = 40$ nm, has been achieved using graphene grown on copper by this method [16].

Finally, epitaxially grown graphene exhibit mobilities up to 3,000 $cm^2/(Vs)$ on the Si face, whereas a cutoff frequency (intrinsic), $f_T = 350$ GHz for a gate length $L_g = 40$ nm, has been reported [16].

The discrepancy between above mentioned intrinsic values and the extrinsic counterparts is still large. This is attributed mainly to the high contact resistances, even if the parasitic pad capacitance influences according to (2.20). The highest reported extrinsic cutoff frequency, $f_T = 55$ GHz, is achieved using CVD grown graphene on a glass substrate [70]. Otherwise, typical extrinsic f_T are in the range 10-20 GHz [16,63,66].

Recently, the correspondingly reported values of (de-embedded) f_{max} have increased with the ratio $f_{max}/f_T \approx 1$ at longer gate lengths [20]. The best reported value for the CVD graphene transistors is $f_{max} = 44$ GHz at $L_g = 140$ nm [16]. Moreover, graphene on SiC can reach $f_{max} = 42$ GHz at $L_g = 140$ nm. The achievement of current saturation, higher R_{ds} , and realisation of a low gate resistance, R_g , are important to improve f_{max} , according to (2.23).

A comparison of the intrinsic high frequency performance of graphene FETs, where both figure-of-merits were given, with mature CMOS and HEMT technologies is presented in Figure 2.12. In summary from literature, there is still a huge gap for G-FETs to bridge, especially in f_{max} but also in extrinsic f_T .

Frequency translation applications

The applications of G-FETs have been mainly limited to frequency multiplication [19], fundamental [17] and subharmonic resistive [18] mixing. The latter operates by biasing the G-FET at the Dirac point and applying an LO signal at f_{LO} to the gate. The resulting time varying drain to source resistance is at $2f_{LO}$. The multiplication with an RF signal at f_{RF} achieves a down-conversion to the intermediate frequency at $f_{IF} = |f_{RF} - 2f_{LO}|$. A state-of-the-art CL of 24 dB for G-FET mixers is accomplished by this method.



Figure 2.12: Intrinsic performance of G-FETs, where both f_T and f_{max} data were readily available, versus mature CMOS and HEMT technologies [16, 20, 71].

Small-signal power amplifier

The electron, hole duality of graphene is a fundamental requirement for the subharmonic mixer in [18], but it is a limitation in designing a small-signal amplifier. Again from Figure 2.3b small-signal gain requires a high g_m and a low g_d . For conventional, unipolar n-channel FETs operation in the current saturation regime assures a low g_d , while an appropriate V_{gs} yields a high g_m .

In G-FETs, on the other hand, g_m is not monotonically increasing with V_{gs} , but instead has well-defined max and min with a zero at the Dirac-point. Changing the drain bias shifts the peaks in g_m , which makes a G-FET operating at optimum transconductance to exhibit weak current saturation, as investigated also in [63]. To maximise g_m , the off-state must be distinct via a low n_0 , while R_c must be minimised to have $g_{me} \approx g_{mi}$, from (2.17). Typically, as in Figure 2.11b, a G-FET enters a second linear regime in the output characteristics as the channel changes from one carrier type (region I), to pinch-off (region II) and finally to the other carrier type (region III). As a consequence of (2.15), the reported values in the literature are $|S_{21}| < 1$, with one occurrence of gain, e.g. $|S_{21}| > 1$ in [20].



Figure 2.13: Illustration of the optical recognition of single-layer graphene from the bi-layer dito on chip after mechanical exfoliation for a relatively large flake.



Figure 2.14: The same flake with a two-finger 60 μm wide, 1 μm gate length G-FET on top. The graphene is visible as a difference in nuance under the drain and source pads, which are covered by Al_2O_3 , while the gate pad is on top of the oxide.

Chapter 3

Method

This chapter introduces the principles used in the manufacturing, characterisation, parameter extraction and modelling of the G-FETs and applications.

3.1 Fabrication

The manufacturing procedure is described in steps I-V below, each with an associated cross-sectional illustration shown in Figure 3.1.

- I. Exfoliation of graphene on 300 nm SiO_2 from natural graphite, see Figure 2.13, which ensures a uniform and high quality material. The substrate limited mobility is still comparable to available synthesized graphene.
- II. Electron beam lithography (EBL) patterning of drain and source contacts, using double resist layers consisting of MMA EL10 (500 nm) and ZEP520 1:1 Anisole (150 nm) to facilitate lift-off of metal evaporated by e-gun. A metal stack of Ti/Pd/Au (1 nm/15 nm/60 nm) is used, as motivated by the compilation in Table 2.2 to have low contact resistivity of 600 $\Omega\mu m$. The thin layer of Ti is used for adhesion only, while Pd is beneficial to have a small charge transfer and symmetric transfer characteristics.
- III. Allover electron beam evaporation of metal and subsequent oxidation on a hot-plate. Usually 3 times 2 nm aluminum to form an Al_2O_3 oxide, which compares well in Table 2.3, with an approximate final thickness of 8 nm. This yields a gate oxide capacitance $C_{ox} \approx 0.5 \ \mu F/cm^2$ and results in mobilities for both electrons and holes $\mu \approx 2,000 \ cm^2/(Vs)$.
- IV. EBL patterning of a gate electrode, metallisation by e-gun evaporation and lift-off. Similar to drain and source consisting of Ti/Pd/Au, but with a metal thickness increased to 0.5 μm (MMA EL10 thickness increased to 1 μm) for amplifier applications to have a lower gate resistance, R_g , and thus improve noise performance. The access distances from gate electrode to drain/source pads are 100 nm, which is close to self-aligned. The gate length is $L_g = 1 \ \mu m$ to have efficient channel modulation and thus as high transconductance, g_m , as possible, despite the large contact resistances.
- V. Removal of oxide on top of contact pads with a wet etchant consisting of HF (buffered oxide etch). A resulting G-FET is shown in Figure 2.14.



Figure 3.1: Step-by-step fabrication of a G-FET, described in detail in Section 3.1.

3.2 Amplifier design

To design a small-signal amplifier with the fabricated G-FET, the S-parameters in Figure 3.2 were measured at $V_{gs} = 0.25$ V and $V_{ds} = -1.25$ V (see Figure 4.1). The device exhibits extrinsic $f_T = 5$ GHz and $f_{max} = 7$ GHz from Figure 3.6. A design frequency of 1 GHz was chosen and the conventional design method in [31] was utilised. Calculating the stability parameters from the Sparameters the G-FET is unconditionally stable, with stability factor K > 1and stability measure b > 0. Thus any source- and load reflection coefficients, Γ_s and Γ_L respectively, can be presented without the risk of oscillations. The approach of a unilateral design was disregarded, since the estimated error of about 1 dB was considered unacceptable. Due to the low frequency, S_{11} is close to open and the largest gain improvement is achieved by matching at the input. Consequently, the available power gain, G_A , circles [72] are the logical starting point, as illustrated in Figure 3.3, where $G_{A,max} \approx 10$ dB at $\Gamma_{M,s} = 0.9 \angle 29^{\circ}$.

At 1 GHz on a Si substrate, $\varepsilon_{Si} = 11.7$, matching stubs are impractically long since $\lambda_{TEM} \approx 8.8 \ cm$. This motivates lumped matching networks, used in combination with coplanar waveguide (CPW) transmission lines. Clearly, from Figure 3.3, a single series inductor is enough to match the input and enhance the gain substantially. With the available inductance values (Coilcraft 0402CS series) L = 36 nH was chosen, which corresponds to the source reflection coefficient $\Gamma_s = 0.9 \angle 23^\circ$ in Figure 3.3. The predicted available power gain is consequently $G_A \approx 9$ dB, where the uncertainty originates from the specified inductor tolerance of 5 %. The actual amplifier gain is the transducer power gain, $G_T = |S_{21}|^2$ [dB]. To have $G_A = G_T$ the output of the transistor must be conjugately matched, as $\Gamma_L = \Gamma^*_{out} = 0.3 \angle 54^\circ$. Keeping the output at 50 Ω , the gain is $G_T \approx G_A - 0.5$ dB. Consequently, having a simple circuitry with easy DC biasing is prioritised over an otherwise small gain improvement.

A photo of the resulting amplifier, with a soldered inductor on the gate, is shown in Figure 3.4 with the G-FET encircled and presented in Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.2: Measured and modelled G-FET S-parameters from 10 MHz to 10 GHz at the bias point $V_{gs} = 0.25$ V and $V_{ds} = -1.25$ V. Importantly, small-signal power gain with 50 Ω terminations is possible for $f \leq 3.3$ GHz.



Figure 3.3: Available gain circles of the G-FET from 0.1 dB to 9.1 dB in steps of 3 dB, while $G_{max} \approx 10$ dB. The chosen source reflection coefficient, Γ_s , is also included.



Figure 3.4: Photo of the manufactured amplifier, including the CPW transmission lines, the soldered inductor and the G-FET. The scale bar is 400 μm .



Figure 3.5: Close-up photo of the fabricated G-FET, with the graphene flake clearly visible underneath the drain and source contact pads. The gate length is 1 μm and the channel width is 60 μm divided equally in two fingers. The scale bar is 10 μm .



Figure 3.6: Derivation of extrinsic f_T and f_{max} from measured S-parameters for the G-FET at the bias point of $V_{gs} = 0.25$ V and $V_{ds} = -1.25$ V.

3.3 Noise measurements - the Y-factor method

The Y-factor method is a relative measurement technique utilising a cold and a hot load, presenting noise temperatures T_C and T_H , respectively. The resulting output powers from the device under test (DUT), with unknown input noise temperature T_n , are thus calculated as $P_{LC} = k\Delta f G(T_C + T_n)$ and $P_{LH} = k\Delta f G(T_H + T_n)$. The ratio is defined as the Y-factor and given by

$$Y = \frac{P_{LH}}{P_{LC}} = \frac{T_H + T_n}{T_C + T_n} \qquad [-],$$
(3.1)

from which the DUT input equivalent noise temperature is calculated as

$$T_n = \frac{T_H - YT_C}{Y - 1}$$
 [K]. (3.2)

Typically, a standard termination at $T_0 = 290$ K is used, while the other can have either a lower or higher temperature depending on the DUT noise temperature, since for best accuracy the difference should be $T_H - T_C \approx T_n$ [27]. For some measurements a cold load at liquid nitrogen temperature, T = 77 K, is sufficient, but for higher noise temperatures commonly diode noise sources are used as a hot load. These are specified with their excess noise ratio (ENR) defined in (3.3). Diodes with an ENR value of 15.2 dB are readily available.

$$ENR = 10 \cdot \log\left(\frac{T_n - T_0}{T_0}\right) \qquad [dB] \tag{3.3}$$

Actual measured noise figure is the cascade of the corresponding quantities of the DUT and the receiver system used to measure the powers, according to the cascade formula

$$F_{meas} = F_{DUT} + \frac{F_{rec} - 1}{G_{DUT}} \qquad [dB].$$
(3.4)



Figure 3.7: Schematic of the mixer noise measurement setup.



Figure 3.8: Schematic of the noise measurement setup used for the amplifier.

For a DUT with a high gain it is thus safe to assume $F_{DUT} \approx F_{meas}$, while otherwise a correction is required where F_{DUT} is solved from (3.4). This makes a simultaneous measurement of the DUT gain necessary, which in its most simple form is given by (3.5) [73]. The primed noise powers are measured with the DUT inserted, while the unprimed are the noise powers of the hot and cold sources themselves.

$$G_{DUT} = \frac{P'_H - P'_C}{P_H - P_C} \qquad [dB]$$
(3.5)

The complete procedure is implemented in a noise figure analyser (NFA), which calibrated with a commercial diode noise source, simultaneously displays gain and noise figure of a DUT.

The main uncertainties arises from mismatches of the DUT, quantified by S_{11} and S_{22} , which is especially deteriorative when the gain and noise figure are simultaneously low [74]. Furthermore, uncertainties arise from a high noise figure and mismatch of the NFA, as well as mismatch and ENR uncertainty of the noise source.

3.3.1 Noise measurement setups

The Y-factor and noise figure of the G-FET subharmonic mixer and amplifier were measured with an Agilent N8975A NFA and on-chip probing. The procedures are illustrated in Figure 3.7 and Figure 3.8. The mixer has a 1-18 GHz 10 dB directional coupler to separate the RF and IF signals at the drain. This setup uses also an additional low-pass filter with 40 dB attenuation in the stopband, to ensure good isolation and minimum leakage from the noise source to the NFA. A high ENR noise source, 15 dB \pm 0.1 dB, is utilised to increase the Y-factor and thus decrease the measurement uncertainty in this case.

3.4 Modelling of G-FETs

This section starts with the procedures in large- and small-signal modelling of G-FETs and continues with its utilisation in noise figure modelling.

3.4.1 Parameter extraction

There are some major differences in the large- and small-signal modelling of G-FETs compared to other FETs, arising from the fact that graphene is a zero bandgap material. First, since the device has no pinch-off the cold-FET method needs modification and, secondly, the duality in electron-hole transport must be considered for a DC model. The relevant procedures are outlined below, as adapted from the semi-empirical large signal model proposed in [75].

The model presents a single closed-form expression for $I_{ds}(V_{gs})$, predicting both the difference in mobilities and asymmetry for electrons and holes, given μ_e , μ_h , R_c , R_{ext} , n_0 and C_{ox} . Especially, if $|V_{ds}/V_{gs}| \ll 1$ and $|V_{ds}/V_{gd}| \ll 1$, the expressions simplifies such that the total drain to source resistance may be expressed according to

$$R_{ds} = 2R_c + 2R_{ext} + \frac{\alpha_{\mu_e}}{1 + (V_{gs}/V_0)^2} \qquad [\Omega], \tag{3.6}$$

for $V_{gs} \gg V_{dirac}$ and

$$R_{ds} = 2R_c + \frac{\alpha_{\mu h}}{1 + (V_{gs}/V_0)^2} \qquad [\Omega], \tag{3.7}$$

for $V_{gs} \ll V_{dirac}$, assuming hole doping of the channel from the contacts. Since $\alpha_{\mu_{e,h}} = L/(W\mu_{e,h}qn_0)$, $V_0 = qn_0/C_{ox}$ and $C_{ox} = (C_{gs} + C_{gd})/(LW)$ all parameters are extracted by curve fitting once the intrinsic capacitors are known. These are found from de-embedded S-parameters of the G-FET.

To find the parasitic components of Figure 2.5, S-parameters of separate and identical open- and short structures without graphene channel [15] are measured, which enables the extraction of the pad capacitances and pad inductors plus the gate resistance, respectively, according to Figure 3.9. The components of the open structure (Figure 3.9a) are found by identifying it is a π -network, while the short structure components (Figure 3.9b) are organised as a T-network, with the capacitors removed. The major part of the contact resistances, R_s and R_d , are due to the metal graphene interface and access resistances (Section 2.4.2) and are thus not correctly given by the short structure values R'_s and R'_d , but instead found from (3.7) with $R_s = R_d = R_c$.



Figure 3.9: (a) Open structure small-signal circuit, where the gate-drain parasitic capacitance, C_{pgd} , is neglected. (b) Short structure small-signal circuit, where R'_s and R'_d are the metal contributions to R_s and R_d .

The expressions of (3.8) apply to the elements of the open structure.

$$Im(y_{11}) = \omega C_{pg} \qquad [S] \tag{3.8a}$$

$$Im(y_{22}) = \omega C_{pd} \qquad [S] \tag{3.8b}$$

The expressions of (3.9) apply to the elements of the short structure.

$$z_{11} = R'_s + R_g + j\omega(L_s + L_g) \qquad [\Omega] \tag{3.9a}$$

$$z_{12} = z_{21} = R'_s + j\omega L_s$$
 [Ω] (3.9b)

$$z_{22} = R'_{s} + R'_{d} + j\omega(L_{s} + L_{d}) \qquad [\Omega]$$
(3.9c)

3.4.2 Noise figure modelling procedure

The G-FET noise figure is measured when presented to a single Γ_s , while according to Section 2.2.5 the appropriate figure-of-merit for noise performance is F_{min} . In order to extract this quantity the one temperature Pospieszalski noise model was utilised, assuming $T_g = T_a$, as described in Section 2.2.7. The small-signal model of Figure 2.5 was used with the extracted component values presented in Table 3.1, which yields the modelled S-parameters in Figure 3.2. Several soldered inductors were measured to deduce the actual Γ_s , which differs slightly from the designed ideal inductor. Furthermore, for the noise analysis, the value of R_g includes $R_{series} = 5 \ \Omega$ of the inductor with $Q \approx 44$ at 1 GHz. The remaining parameter T_d was extracted via a least square fit to the measured noise figures where the gain was $G_T > 5$ dB.

 $\label{eq:constraint} \textbf{Table 3.1: Small-signal parameters for the G-FET noise model}.$

C_{ds}	C_{gs}	C_{gd}	g_m	R_g	R_i	R_{ds}
30 fF	0.5 pF	0.1 pF	56 mS	8 Ω	3Ω	$38 \ \Omega$
C_{pg}	C_{pd}	L_s	L_d	L_g	R_s	R_d
0.14 pF	10 fF	30 pH	50 pH	60 pH	$17 \ \Omega$	$17 \ \Omega$

Chapter 4

Results

This section presents the results divided into the two different applications considered for the G-FETs, in an amplifier and as a subharmonic resistive mixer. The former considers a novel G-FET amplifier and its noise performance by measurement and modelling [Paper A], while the latter considers a noise characterisation of the resistive mixer [Paper B].

4.1 G-FET small-signal amplifier

The DC characteristics of the fabricated device are presented in Figure 4.1 to illustrate the selected bias point, $V_{gs} = 0.25$ V and $V_{ds} = -1.25$ V. Small-signal parameters under these operating conditions for the G-FET are a transconductance value of $g_m = 22$ mS and an output conductance equal to $g_d = 10$ mS, which is not in optimum current saturation, as previously investigated in [63].

The associated S-parameters are presented in Figure 3.2 and clearly the device has small-signal gain when presented to 50 Ω impedances up to 3.3 GHz. Further, the fabricated amplifier exhibits a performance close to the designed value, with a discrepancy mainly attributed to the inductor tolerance of \pm 5% and non-ideal Q < ∞ . Most importantly, the resulting gain at 1 GHz is, from Figure 4.2, $G_T = 9.6$ dB which is slightly more than the designed value of $G_T \approx 8.5$ dB, while the overall maximum gain is 10 dB at 950 MHz. Thus, the fabricated amplifier has a source impedance closer to $\Gamma_{M,s}$. The related VSWR at both the input and output ports is low, as represented by $|S_{11}| < -10$ dB (Figure 4.3) and $|S_{22}| < -10$ dB at the design frequency. Finally, the reverse isolation is excellent with $|S_{12}| < -20$ dB. Also the modelled small-signal gain and return loss (RL)are plotted in Figure 4.2 and Figure 4.3, respectively.

In addition, the measured amplifier noise figure, as found in Figure 4.2, is $6.4 \text{ dB} \pm 0.4 \text{ dB}$ at 1 GHz. The extracted frequency independent, Pospieszalski model equivalent drain temperature is $T_d = 23,100$ K. Since the measurement is done at room temperature the gate temperature is set to $T_g = T_a = 297$ K. The resulting modelled amplifier noise figure versus frequency is represented by the dashed line of Figure 4.2. The corresponding modelled G-FET noise figures, of the device itself as opposed to the amplifier circuit, are presented in Figure 4.4. As reference values, the estimated minimum extrinsic and intrinsic noise figures at 1 GHz are $F_{min,ex} = 3.3$ dB and $F_{min,in} = 1$ dB, respectively.



Figure 4.1: (a) Transfer characteristics and transconductance of the G-FET used in the amplifier at $V_{ds} = -1.25$ V. (b) Output characteristics of the G-FET used in the amplifier from $V_{gs} = -1$ V (top) to 1 V (bottom). Dashed circles indicate the bias point used for the amplifier.

4.2 Noise of G-FET subharmonic resistive mixer

The fabricated G-FET mixer is operated at a gate bias of $V_{gs} = V_{dirac}$ and with zero drain voltage. Due to the thin gate dielectric a voltage swing of only ± 1 V is required to sweep the transfer characteristics of Figure 4.5, corresponding to $P_{LO} = 0$ dBm in the 50 Ω system. Under these bias conditions there is an associated gate leakage current of $I_g < 20$ pA throughout the complete used voltage span, which is beneficial to keep the shot noise at a negligible level [27]. The symmetric transfer characteristics is important for the subharmonic mixing functionality. The small shift in the Dirac point assures little unintentional doping of the graphene layer from the contacts and is advantageous for the mixer to operate at zero gate voltage, where the leakage current is minimised.

The measured mixer single-sideband room temperature conversion loss and noise figure under these operating conditions are presented in Figure 4.6 versus RF signal frequency. The measurement frequency was set to $f_{IF} = 100$ MHz, double-sideband and a 3 dB correction applied to convert to single-sideband quantity. The conversion loss varies in the range 20-22 dB (± 1 dB) throughout the complete frequency span, with a close relation to the noise figure. For verification, also the conversion loss measurement performed with the NFA was verified at $f_{RF} = 2$ GHz using a spectrum analyser.



Figure 4.2: Measured and modelled gain for the amplifier from 10 MHz to 1.5 GHz. Measured and modelled noise figure of the amplifier from 500 MHz to 1.5 GHz.



Figure 4.3: Measured and modelled return loss (RL) from 10 MHz to 1.5 GHz.



Figure 4.4: Minimum noise figure of the G-FET with and without parasitics from 10 MHz to 1.5 GHz calculated from Pospieszalski one temperature noise model [43].



Figure 4.5: Drain to source resistance versus gate source voltage at $V_{ds} = 0.1$ V. This corresponds to the resistance swept by the LO in subharmonic mixer operation.



Figure 4.6: Measured conversion loss and noise figure for the G-FET the subharmonic mixer in the RF frequency interval $f_{RF} = 2.5$ GHz.

Chapter 5

Discussion and conclusion

This section initially discusses the G-FET performance in this thesis, compared to state-of-the-art GaAs and InP III-V HEMT technology and Si MOSFETs, as well as GaAs MESFET results. Finally, a conclusion of the work is drawn.

5.1 Discussion

Considering the subharmonic mixer, despite the measurement uncertainty, there is clearly a close relation with $F_{mixer,SSB,RT} \simeq CL$. According to the analysis in Section 2.2.8 the measured G-FET subharmonic mixer noise is thermal in its origin. Consequently, the most general route to lower noise figure is an improvement in conversion loss. This includes an increased on-off ratio, as well as the introduction of a bandgap in single-layer graphene to alter the shape of the time varying $R_{ds}(t)$. This yields a square wave shape with an increased off-state time, which is beneficial [48]. This is the case for HEMT mixers, where a GaAs HEMT fundamental resistive mixer achieves a conversion loss of 5.3 dB at $f_{RF} = 5$ GHz [48] and a subharmonic GaAs design 6.5 dB at 10 GHz [76]. Also, the noise being thermal makes it promising for cryogenic applications.

While the analysis is fairly simple for the mixer case, it is more complex for the G-FET in amplifier operation. Table 5.1 was compiled to benchmark the state-of-the-art room temperature noise figure results for leading FET technologies, given in Figure 2.7, with the modelled F_{min} of the G-FET fabricated in this work, as presented in Figure 4.4. It benchmarks the extrinsic and intrinsic F_{min} at 1 GHz, as well as the frequency where the extrinsic transistor exceeds $F_{min} = 1$ dB. Note that for the four mature technologies, the difference between intrinsic and extrinsic is negligible. In this comparison, the G-FET is far from the promises of the intrinsic properties of graphene as a material. The worse noise performance is reflected in the extracted value of T_d , which is ~ 4 times higher than in HEMTs [43,46]. This is reflected in the $F_{min}(f)$ characteristics as a rapid increase, since $T_{min} \propto \frac{f}{f_T} \sqrt{T_d}$. In this framework, though, it is also interesting to compare to early results of established technologies before processing methods were optimised. A novel GaAs MESFET achieved a relatively modest $F_{min} = 4$ dB at 1 GHz, with $f_T = 3$ GHz [5]. On the other hand, an early GaAs HEMT already accomplished $F_{min} = 1.4$ dB at 12 GHz, with $f_T =$ 30 GHz [77].

Technology	$F_{min,ex}$	$F_{min,in}$	$F_{ex,1dB}$	L_g	f_T
G-FET [Paper A]	3.3 dB	1 dB	300 MHz	$1 \ \mu m$	5 GHz
GaAs MESFET [78]	0.4 dB	-	$35~\mathrm{GHz}$	$0.11 \ \mu m$	88 GHz
GaAs pHEMT [79]	0.1 dB	-	40 GHz	$0.1 \ \mu m$	$120 \mathrm{GHz}$
InP HEMT [80]	0.1 dB	-	$75 \mathrm{~GHz}$	$0.15 \ \mu m$	$150 \mathrm{~GHz}$
Si MOSFET [81]	0.1 dB	-	$24~\mathrm{GHz}$	65 nm	$160 \mathrm{~GHz}$

Table 5.1: Benchmark of state-of-the-art microwave low-noise FETs at RT. Noise figures presented are at f = 1 GHz. For the mature technologies $F_{min,ex} \simeq F_{min,in}$ is valid.

Based on the directions followed by todays state-of-the-art low noise FETs, from these early results, the most fundamental issues to approach the competitors may be identified. Addressing the high contact and access resistances of the G-FET yields a double contribution. Firstly, eliminating the extrinsic noise contributions and, secondly, enabling a gate length down-scaling with maintained gain capabilities, that is reducing C_g while preserving g_m . This makes it possible to actually increase extrinsic f_T , thus enhancing the extrinsic F_{min} . Although a high f_T is important, in comparing Si MOSFETs and InP HEMTs from Table 5.1, clearly better dynamic properties of the carriers in the channel are essential to reach low noise performance especially at higher frequencies. The superior mobility of graphene must consequently be better utilised in G-FET channels, in which e.g. BN gate dielectrics and substrate is an interesting approach to minimise carrier scattering. Also, the ability to operate with high f_T at a drain current as low as possible has proven important, from (2.25), and concluded in [82]. A future direction is to characterise also $F_{min}(I_{ds})$ for G-FETs.

An advantage of the 2D electron gas in a HEMT channel is the dramatical increase in mobility at cryogenic temperatures. An observed mobility enhancement for graphene on substrate at low temperatures, e.g. [83], is promising in this context, although suspended graphene show competitive mobilities already at near room temperature [14]. Future work thus should include complete sourcepull analysis versus ambient temperature and drain current, $F(I_{ds}, T_a, \Gamma_s)$. This allows for extraction of the noise parameters Γ_{opt} and R_n , making a formal validation of the Pospieszalski noise model for G-FETs possible according to (2.28).

5.2 Future outlook

Judging from the current performance G-FETs are probably not a future candidate for extremely low noise applications or LNAs at higher frequencies. Further consolidation requires a study with de-embedded source-pull measurements to extract the intrinsic F_{min} by modelling. Doing this versus gate length, L_g , reveals the potential with current mobilities, in eliminating the contact resistances. Still, to compete in low noise applications with HEMTs, it is of utmost importance to address the other performance bottleneck in low channel mobility in top-gated G-FETs on a substrate and reach the levels of e.g. InAs. Presently, graphene seems more likely to be an inexpensive alternative outperforming Si at lower and moderate microwave frequencies or complementary integrated with Si. This preferably uses CVD grown graphene directly on insulating substrate with mobilities surpassing those of Si, which are not yet achieved [84].

5.3 Conclusion

In this master thesis the first study of noise performance of graphene FETs at microwave frequencies has been conducted. Two applications have been considered, namely as a subharmonic resistive mixer and in a small-signal amplifier. The dominating noise generating process in the subharmonic resistive mixer was established to be thermal in origin, with $F_{SSB,mixer} \simeq CL = 20-22$ dB for $f_{RF} = 2-5$ GHz. Also, the noise figure of the amplifier could be described by thermal noise of the channel and parasitic resistances, with the Pospieszalski equivalent noise temperature model. General FET procedures has thus proven useful also for understanding the performance of the G-FETs in this work.

As a consequence of the low 50 Ω gain in G-FETs, a G-FET amplifier was designed as a part of this work, with a reported state-of-the-art small-signal transducer power gain $G_T \simeq 10$ dB at f = 1 GHz. This represents an 8 dB improvement compared to earlier reports. The achieved gain was high enough to allow for a relatively accurate noise figure measurement, with the main result being $F = 6.4 \pm 0.4$ dB at f = 1 GHz. Finally, utilising the Pospieszalski model, based on the extracted small-signal equivalent circuit, the minimum extrinsic and intrinsic noise figures of the G-FET were calculated. The results were $F_{min,ex} = 3.3$ dB and $F_{min,in} = 1$ dB at 1 GHz, respectively. 42

References

- D. Pozar, Microwave and RF Design of Wireless Systems. New York: John Wiley And Sons, Inc., 2001.
- [2] E. Fear, S. Hagness, P. Meaney, M. Okoniewski, and M. Stuchly, "Enhancing breast tumor detection with near-field imaging," *IEEE Microwave Magazine*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 48–56, Mar 2002.
- [3] R. Schnabel, D. Mittelstrass, T. Binzer, C. Waldschmidt, and R. Weigel, "Reflection, Refraction and Self-Jamming," *IEEE Microwave Magazine*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 107–117, May 2012.
- M. Tonouchi, "Cutting-edge terahertz technology," Nature Photonics, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 97–105, February 2007.
- [5] W. Hooper and L. W.I., "An Epitaxial GaAs Field-Effect Transistor," Proceeding of the IEEE, vol. 55, no. 7, pp. 1237 1238, 1967.
- [6] T. Mimura, S. Hiyamizu, T. Fujii, and K. Nanbu, "A New Field-Effect Transistor with Selectively Doped GaAs/n-Al_xGa 1-xAs Heterojunctions," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 225–227, 1980.
- [7] L. Samoska, "An Overview of Solid-State Integrated Circuit Amplifiers in the Submillimeter-Wave and THz Regime," *IEEE Transactions on Terahertz Science and Technology*, vol. 1, pp. 9–24, September 2011.
- [8] V. Radisic, K. Leong, X. Mei, S. Sarkozy, W. Yoshida, and W. Deal, "Power Amplification at 0.65 THz Using InP HEMTs," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 724–729, March 2012.
- [9] J. Hacker, M. Seo, A. Young, Z. Griffith, M. Urteaga, and T. Reed, "THz MMICs based on InP HBT Technology," in *IEEE MTT-S 2010 International Microwave Symposium Digest*, May 2010, pp. 1126–1129.
- [10] Y. Roelens, A. Olivier, L. Desplanque, A. Noudeviwa, F. Danneville, N. Wichmann, X. Wallart, and S. Bollaert, "Tellurium δ-doped 120nm AlSb/InAs HEMTs: toward sub-100mv electronics," in 2010 Device Research Conference, June 2010, pp. 53–54.
- [11] S. Johansson, M. Egard, S. Ghalamestani, M. Borg, M. Berg, L.-E. Wernersson, and E. Lind, "RF Characterization of Vertical InAs Nanowire Wrap-Gate Transistors Integrated on Si Substrates," *IEEE Transactions* on Microwave Theory and Techniques, vol. 59, no. 10, pp. 2733–2738, October 2011.

- [12] M. Eron, S. Lin, D. Wang, M. Schroter, and P. Kempf, "L-band carbon nanotube transistor amplifier," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 265– 266, February 2011.
- [13] K. Novoselov and A. Geim, "Electric Field Effect In Atomically Thin Carbon Films," *Science*, vol. 306, no. 5696, pp. 666–669, 2004.
- [14] F. Schwierz, "Graphene transistors," Nature Nanotechnology, vol. 5, pp. 487–496, 2010.
- [15] L. Liao, Y.-C. Lin, M. Bao, R. Cheng, J. Bai, Y. Liu, Y. Qu, K. Wang, Y. Huang, and X. Duan, "High-speed graphene transistors with a selfaligned nanowire gate," *Nature*, vol. 467, pp. 305–308, 2010.
- [16] Y. Wu, K. Jenkins, A. Valdes-Garcia, D. Farmer, Y. Zhu, A. Bol, C. Dimitrakopoulos, W. Zhu, F. Xia, P. Avouris, and Y.-M. Lin, "State-of-the-Art Graphene High-Frequency Electronics," *Nano Letters*, 2012.
- [17] Y.-M. Lin, A. Valdes-Garcia, S. Han, D. Farmer, I. Meric, Y. Sun, Y. Wu, C. Dimitrakopoulos, A. Grill, P. Avouris, and K. Jenkins, "Wafer-Scale Graphene Integrated Circuit," *Science*, vol. 332, pp. 1294–1297, June 2011.
- [18] O. Habibpour, S. Cherednichenko, J. Vukusic, K. Yhland, and J. Stake, "A Subharmonic Graphene FET Mixer," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 71–73, 2011.
- [19] H. Wang, A. Hsu, J. Wu, and T. Palacios, "Graphene Frequency Multipliers," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 547–549, 2009.
- [20] Y. Wu, D. Farmer, V. Garcia, W. Zhu, K. Jenkins, C. Dimitrakopoulos, P. Avouis, and Y.-M. Lin, "Record High RF Performance for Epitaxial Graphene Transistors," in *Techn. Dig. IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting*, 2011.
- [21] C. Dean, A. Young, I. Meric, C. Lee, L. Wang, S. Sorgenfrei, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, P. Kim, K. Shepard, and J. Hone, "Boron nitride substrates for high-quality graphene electronics," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 5, pp. 722–726, 2010.
- [22] H. Wang, A. Hsu, and T. Palacios, "Graphene Electronics for RF Applications," *Microwave Magazine*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 114–125, 2012.
- [23] O. Habibpour, "Fabrication, Characterisation and Modelling of Subharmonic Graphene FET Mixers," Licentiate thesis, Chalmers University of Technology, 2011.
- [24] J. Johnson, "Thermal Agitation of Electricity in Conductors," *Physical Review*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 97–109, July 1928.
- [25] H. Nyquist, "Thermal Agitation of Electric Charge in Conductors," *Phys-ical Review*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 110–113, July 1928.
- [26] A. Kerr and J. Randa, "Thermal Noise and Noise Measurements A 2010 Update," *IEEE Microwave Magazine*, vol. 11, no. 6, 2010.

- [27] S. Maas, Noise in Linear and Nonlinear Circuits. Norwood: Artech House, Inc., 2005.
- [28] H. Friis, "Noise Figures of Radio Receivers," Proceeding of the IRE, vol. 32, no. 7, pp. 419–422, 1944.
- [29] W. Shockley, "A Unipolar "Field-Effect" Transistor," Proceedings of the IRE, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 1365–1376, November 1952.
- [30] S. Sze and K. Kwok, *Physics of Semiconductor Devices*. Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley-Interscience, 2007.
- [31] G. Gonzalez, Microwave Transistor Amplifiers, Analysis and Design. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1997.
- [32] G. Dambrine, A. Cappy, F. Heliodore, and E. Playez, "A new method for determining the FET small-signal equivalent circuit," *IEEE Transactions* on Microwave Theory and Techniques, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 1151–1159, 1987.
- [33] S. Chou and D. Antoniadis, "Relationship between measured and intrinsic transconductances of FET's," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 448–450, 1987.
- [34] F. Schwierz and J. Liou, "RF transistors: Recent developments and roadmap toward terahertz applications," *Solid-state Electronics*, vol. 51, no. 8, pp. 1079–1091, 2007.
- [35] D.-H. Kim, "30-nm InAs pHEMTs with ft=644GHz and fmax=681GHz," IEEE Electron Device Letters, vol. 31, no. 8, pp. 806–808, 2010.
- [36] R. Lai, X. Mei, W. Deal, W. Yoshida, Y. Kim, P. Liu, J. Lee, J. Uyeda, V. Radisic, M. Lange, T. Gaier, L. Samoska, and A. Fung, "Sub 50 nm InP HEMT Device with Fmax Greater than 1 THz," in *Tech. Dig. IEEE Electron Device Meeting*, December 2007.
- [37] S. Mason, "Power Gain in Feedback Amplifiers," Transactions of the IRE Professional Group on Circuit Theory, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 20–25, 1954.
- [38] M. Gupta, "Power gain in feedback amplifiers, a classic revisited," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 864–879, 1992.
- [39] M. Pospiezalski, "Extremely Low-Noise Amplification with Cryogenic FETs and HFETs: 1970-2004," *IEEE Microwave Magazine*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 62–75, 2005.
- [40] F. Danneville, "Microwave Noise and FET Devices," *IEEE Microwave Magazine*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 53–60, 2010.
- [41] A. Van der Ziel, "Thermal Noise in Field-Effect Transistors," Proceedings of the IRE, vol. 50, pp. 1808–1812, 1962.
- [42] R. Pucel, H. Haus, and H. Statz, "Signal and noise properties of gallium arsenide microwave field-effect transistors," *Advances in Electronics and Electron Physics*, vol. 38, pp. 195–265, 1975.

- [43] M. Pospiezalski, "Modeling of Noise Parameters of MESFETs and MOD-FETs and Their Frequency and Temperature Dependence," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 37, no. 9, pp. 1340–1350, 1989.
- [44] M. Garcia, J. Stenarson, H. Zirath, and I. Angelov, "An algebraic method for noise parameter analysis of temperature noise models," *Microwave and Optical Technology Letters*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 287–291, 1998.
- [45] M. Garcia, J. Stenarsson, H. Zirath, and I. Angelov, "A direct extraction formula for the FET temperature noise model," *Microwave and Optical Technology Letters*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 208–212, 1997.
- [46] M. Garcia, J. Stenarson, K. Yhland, H. Zirath, and I. Angelov, "A New Extraction Method for the Two-Parameter FET Temperature Noise Model," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 46, no. 11, pp. 1679–1685, 1998.
- [47] S. Maas, "A GaAs MESFET Mixer with Very Low Intermodulation," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 425–429, 1987.
- [48] K. Yhland, "Simplified Analysis of Resistive Mixers," IEEE Microwave and Wireless Component Letters, vol. 17, no. 8, pp. 604–606, August 2007.
- [49] E. Hwang and S. Das Darma, "Acoustic phonon scattering limited carrier mobility in two-dimensional extrinsic graphene," *Physical Review B*, vol. 77, no. 115449, pp. 1–3, 2008.
- [50] J. Chen, C. Jang, S. Xiao, M. Ishigami, and M. Fuhrer, "Intrinsic and Extrinsic Performance Limits of Graphene Devices on SiO2," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 3, pp. 206–209, 2008.
- [51] E. Hwang, S. Adam, and S. Das Darma, "Carrier Transport in Two-Dimensional Graphene Layers," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 98, no. 186806, pp. 1–4, 2007.
- [52] A. Konar, T. Fang, and J. Debdeep, "Effect of high-k gate dielectrics on charge transport in graphene-based field effect transistors," *Physical Review* B, vol. 82, no. 115452, pp. 1–7, 2010.
- [53] V. Dorgan, M. Bae, and E. Pop, "Mobility and Saturation Velocity in Graphene on SiO2," Applied Physics Letters, vol. 97, p. 082112, 2010.
- [54] S. Adam, E. Hwang, V. Galitski, and S. Darma, "A self-consistent theory for graphene transport," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 104, no. 47, pp. 18392–18397, 2007.
- [55] S. Kim, J. Nah, I. Jo, D. Shahrjerdi, L. Colombo, Z. Yao, E. Tutuc, and S. Banerjee, "Realization of a High Mobility Dual-gated Field Effect Transistor with Al2O3 Dielectric," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 94, p. 062107, 2009.
- [56] J. Xia, F. Chen, J. Li, and N. Tao, "Measurement of the quantum capacitance of graphene," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 4, pp. 505–509, 2009.

- [57] K. Nagashio, K. Nishimura, K. Kita, and A. Toriumi, "Metal/Graphene Contact as a Performance Killer of Ultra-high Mobility Graphene," in *Tech. Dig. IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting*, vol. 2, 2009, pp. 565– 568.
- [58] F. Xia, V. Perebeinos, Y.-M. Lin, Y. Wu, and P. Avouris, "The origins and limits of metal-graphene junction resistance," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 6, pp. 179–184, 2011.
- [59] D. Farmer, Y.-M. Lin, and P. Avouris, "Graphene Field-Effect Transistors with Self-Aligned Gates," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 97, p. 013103, 2010.
- [60] S. Russo, M. Craciun, M. Yamamoto, A. Morpurgo, and S. Tarucha, "Contact resistance in graphene-based devices," *Physica E*, vol. 42, pp. 677–679, 2009.
- [61] M. Lemme, T. Echtermeyer, M. Baus, and H. Kurz, "A Graphene Field-Effect Device," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 282–284, 2007.
- [62] B. Fallahazad, S. Kim, L. Colombo, and E. Tutuc, "Dielectric Thickness Dependence of Carrier Mobility in Graphene with HfO2 Top Dielectric," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 97, p. 123105, 2010.
- [63] I. Meric, C. Dean, S.-H. Han, L. Wang, K. Jenkins, J. Hone, and K. Shepard, "High-frequency performance of graphene field effect transistors with saturating IV-characteristics," in *Tech. Dig. IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting*, 2011.
- [64] H. Wang, T. Taychatanapat, A. Hsu, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, P. Jarillo-Herrero, and T. Palacios, "BN/Graphene/BN Transistors for RF Applications," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 9, 2011.
- [65] H. Xu, Z. Zhang, H. Xu, Z. Wang, S. Wang, and L. Peng, "Top-Gated Graphene Field-Effect Transistors with High Normalized Transconductance and Designable Dirac Point Voltage," ACS Nano, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 5031– 5037, 2011.
- [66] O. Habibpour, S. Cherednichenko, J. Vukusic, and J. Stake, "Mobility Improvement and Microwave Charactersation of a Graphene Field Effect Transistor with Silicon Nitride Gate Dielectrics," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 7, pp. 871–873, 2011.
- [67] P. Blake, E. W. Hill, A. H. Castro Neto, K. S. Novoselov, D. Jiang, R. Yang, T. Booth, and A. Geim, "Making graphene visible," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 91, p. 063124, 2007.
- [68] A. Reina, X. Jia, J. Ho, D. Nezich, H. Soni, V. Bulovic, M. Dresselhaus, and J. Kong, "Large Area, Few-Layer Graphene Films on Arbitrary Substrates by Chemical Vapor Deposition," *Nano Letters*, vol. 9, pp. 30–35, 2009.
- [69] X. Li, W. Cai, J. An, S. Kim, J. Nah, D. Yang, R. Piner, A. Velamakanni, I. Jung, E. Tutuc, S. Banerjee, L. Colombo, and R. Ruoff, "Large Area Synthesis of High-Quality and Uniform Graphene Films on Copper Foils," *Science*, vol. 324, pp. 1312–1314, 2009.

- [70] L. Liao, J. Bai, R. Cheng, H. Zhou, L. Liu, Y. Liu, Y. Huang, and X. Duan, "Scalable Fabrication of Self-Aligned Graphene Transistors and Circuits on Glass," *Nano Letters*, 2011.
- [71] F. Schwierz, "Industry-compatible graphene transistors," *Nature*, vol. 472, pp. 41–42, 2011.
- [72] H. Fukui, "Available Power Gain, Noise Figure, and Noise Measure of Two-Ports and Their Graphical Representations," *IEEE Transactions on Circuit Theory*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 137–142, June 1966.
- [73] Agilent-technologies, "Fundamentals of RF and Microwave Noise Figure Measurements," Application Note 57-1, 2010.
- [74] Agilent-Technologies, "Noise Figure Measurement Accuracy The Y-Factor Method," Application Note 57-2, 2010.
- [75] O. Habibpour, J. Vukusic, and J. Stake, "A Large Signal Graphene FET Model," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 968– 975, 2012.
- [76] H. Zirath, "A Subharmonically Pumped Resistive Dual-HEMT-Mixer," in *IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest 1991*, July 1991, pp. 875–878.
- [77] K. Johsin, T. Mimura, M. Niori, Y. Yamashita, K. Kosemura, and J. Saito, "Noise Performance of Microwave HEMT," in *IEEE MTT-S 1983 Interna*tional Microwave Symposium Digest, 1983, pp. 563–565.
- [78] K. Onodera, K. Nishimura, S. Aoyama, S. Sugitani, Y. Yamane, and M. Hirano, "Extremely Low-Noise Performance of GaAs MESFET's with Wide-Head T-Shaped Gate," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 310–319, February 1999.
- [79] K. Tan, D. Streit, P.-H. Liu, and P. Chow, "High Performance W-band Low Noise and Power Pseudomorphic InGaAs HEMTs," in Proc. 1991 IEEE/Cornell Conf. on Advanced Concepts in Speed Semiconductor Devices and Circuits, 1991, pp. 461–468.
- [80] P. Chao, A. Tessmer, K.-H. Duh, P. Ho, M.-Y. Kaoi, P. Smith, J. Ballingall, S.-M. Liu, and A. Jabra, "W-Band Low-Noise InAlAs/InGaAs Lattice-Matched HEMT's," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 59–62, 1990.
- [81] B. Martineau, S. Douyere, A. Cathelin, D. F., C. Raynaud, G. Dambrine, S. Lepilliet, F. Giansello, and D. Belot, "Millimeter Wave Design with 65 nm LP SOI HR CMOS Technology," in *Proc. 2007 IEEE Int. SOI Conf.*, October 2007, pp. 123–124.
- [82] J. Schleeh, G. Alestig, J. Halonen, A. Malmros, B. Nilsson, P. Nilsson, J. Starski, N. Wadefalk, H. Zirath, and J. Grahn, "Ultralow-Power Cryogenic InP HEMT With Minimum Noise Temperature of 1 K at 6 GHz," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 664–666, May 2012.

- [83] D. Farmer, H.-Y. Chiu, L. Y.-M., K. Jenkin, F. Xia, and P. Avouris, "Utilization of a Buffered Dielectric to Achieve High Field-Effect Carrier Mobility in Graphene Transistors," *Nano Letters*, vol. 9, no. 12, pp. 4474–4478, November 2009.
- [84] J. Sun, M. Cole, N. Lindvall, K. A. Teo, and A. Yurgens, "Noncatalytic chemical vapor deposition of graphene on high temperature substrates for transparent electrodes," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 100, no. 2, p. 022102, 2012.

REFERENCES

Paper A

A 10-dB Small-Signal Graphene FET Amplifier

M. Andersson, O. Habibpour, J. Vukusic and J. Stake

Submitted to Electronics Letters, April 2012

Full text not included due to copyright.

Paper B

Noise Figure Characterization of a Subharmonic Graphene FET mixer

M. Andersson, O. Habibpour, J. Vukusic and J. Stake

IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest, Montreal, Canada, June, 2012

Full text not included due to copyright.

Paper C

Towards Practical Graphene Field Effect Transistors for Microwaves

M. Andersson, O. Habibpour, J. Vukusic and J. Stake

GigaHertz Symposium, Stockholm, Sweden, pp. 58, March, 2012

Full text not included due to copyright.